ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
DEC 20 2013

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Spartanburg County

Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

KENNETH ODELL JACKSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-212700

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BENJAMIN JOHN TRIPP
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the evidence at the suppression hearing support the trial court's finding that reasonable suspicion existed to detain the driver for a drug sniff beyond the initial traffic stop where the driver exhibited no concealing behavior and where the officer's only specific and arousing observations were that the car was registered to a third party, two air fresheners were in the car, and the driver had left from an area of suspected drug activity?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Spartanburg County grand jury indicted Appellant on one count of possession with intent to distribute cocaine, one count of possession with intent to distribute methamphetamine, one count of possession with intent to distribute hydrocodone, and one count of possession with intent to distribute clonazepam. R. 9, l. 12 – R. 11, l. 17; R. 281. On July 23, 2012, Appellant proceeded to trial before a jury and the Honorable Roger L. Couch. Ricky Keith Harris represented Appellant and Scott Spivey represented the State. R. 1.

In the course of the trial, the State dropped the charges for hydrocodone and clonazepam. R. 270, ll. 3-25. At the conclusion of the trial on July 25, 2012, the jury found Appellant guilty on the count of possession with intent to distribute methamphetamine. The jury found Appellant not guilty on the count of possession with intent to distribute cocaine but guilty on the lesser included offense of simple possession. R. 273, ll. 3-16. For the methamphetamine charge, Judge Couch sentenced Appellant to ten years imprisonment suspended to service of four years with three years of probation. For the cocaine charge, the Judge sentenced Appellant to three years concurrent. R. 278, ll. 12-17.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

THE EVIDENCE DID NOT SUPPORT THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT REASONABLE SUSPICION EXISTED TO DETAIN THE DRIVER FOR A DRUG SNIFF BEYOND THE INITIAL TRAFFIC STOP BECAUSE THE DRIVER EXHIBITED NO CONCEALING BEHAVIOR AND BECAUSE REASONABLE SUSPICION OF SERIOUS CRIME DID NOT EXIST MERELY BECAUSE THE DRIVER DROVE ANOTHER'S VEHICLE HAVING TWO AIR FRESHENERS AWAY FROM AN AREA OF SUSPECTED DRUG ACTIVITY.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the evening of November 9, 2011, shortly before 8:30 p.m., Officer Daniel with the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office received communication from Investigators Roger Luther and Dan Swad, who had been surveilling a gray Dodge Magnum at a local gas station. The investigators asked Officer Daniel to follow the car on the highway and try to find grounds to stop it. R. 33, l. 10 – R. 34, l. 17; R. 39, ll. 7-8; R. 42, ll. 8-12. Outside of the investigators' request, Officer Daniel had no reason to be suspicious of the car:

Q: They just said find some reason to stop this car, correct?

A: That's what they asked, yes sir.

Q: And did you yourself know why they wanted you to find some reason to stop the car?

A: No, sir.

Q: You just know that they wanted the car to get stopped and they didn't have a reason to do it themselves, correct?

A: Correct.

R. 42, l. 22 – R. 43, l. 5.

Q: But just to be clear, investigators Luther and Swad never relayed to you any information about any alleged criminal activity afoot involving the vehicle of [Appellant], did they?

A: I don't recall.

R. 46, l. 24 – R. 47, l. 3.

After acquiring and trailing the car, Officer Daniel said it “swerved to the left and failed to maintain its lane like the driver may have been reaching over to the right and leaning over.” R. 34, ll. 21-23. He closed to within about 35 feet, turned his headlights off, and saw that the tag light was too dim to illuminate the license plate. R. 36, ll. 1-18. Officer Daniel stopped the car. He approached Appellant and asked for registration and identification; Appellant handed him a valid provisional license and the registration for the car in the name of another person. Around the same time he noticed two air fresheners hanging from the rearview mirror. Officer Daniel then instructed Appellant to walk with him towards the patrol car. Aware that the area in which Appellant was being surveilled earlier was linked to drug activity, Officer Daniel asked Appellant if he had any narcotics in the car. Appellant allegedly “broke eye contact.” R. 38, l. 19 – R. 41, l. 12; R. 48, ll. 1-23; R. 62, l. 23 – R. 63, l. 7.

Officer Daniel decided to detain Appellant for investigation beyond the tag-light violation and radioed for a canine to sniff the car. R. 117, ll. 18-23. A fourth officer eventually arrived with a canine, which alerted around the center console. R. 81, ll. 10-21. The officers found quantities of cocaine, methamphetamine, and a number of pills and tablets. R. 140, ll. 1-13.

Prior to the jury hearing, Appellant moved to suppress evidence arising from the search of Appellant’s car on grounds that the officers’ detention and investigation beyond issuing a tag-light citation violated the Fourth Amendment. R. 12, l. 14 – R. 13, ll. 7.

In the suppression hearing, Officer Daniel testified Appellant’s provisional license was “suspicious” because the time was 8:30 p.m. and a provisional license is “normally used

just to drive back and forth from work, to church, doctor's office, and stuff like that." R.

39, ll. 9-21. He reviewed the circumstances that led him to call in the canine:

[T]he reason why I requested the drug dog is from the time I was asked to help the area he was coming from, the fact that he swerved over, I thought maybe he was hiding something, he had air fresheners hanging from his rear-view mirror when I question[ed] him, my knowledge of the area and drug activity, when I questioned him about drugs his reactions raised my suspicion.

R. 169, ll. 18-24.

Investigator Swad also testified, stating that when he caught up to the stop and parked behind Deputy Daniel, Appellant appeared "very nervous": "just non – I guess – confrontational with the – when he asked a question, he looked away and stuff like that."

R. 63, l. 21 – R. 64, l. 3. He also testified that he heard a report that another officer recently made undercover buys from him in the same make and model vehicle. R. 64, ll. 10-15.

Upon taking the stand a second time, Officer Daniel expressly conceded that he detained Appellant for a further investigation beyond the initial tag-light violation, and he kept Appellant detained until the canine could arrive at the scene and perform a sniff. R. 117, l. 18 – R. 118, l. 8.

After taking the evidence and arguments under consideration, the court found that reasonable suspicion existed to continue the detention. The court referenced the testimony that Appellant swerved the car while appearing to hide something; that Appellant was "overly, overly nervous"; that multiple air fresheners were in the car; that the car was registered to another person; that the car matched the description of another used in

controlled drug buy; and that the car came from what officers considered a high crime area.

R. 137, l. 5 – R. 138, l. 21.

During the jury hearing, Appellant again objected to the admission of evidence arising from the continued stop. R. 167, l. 14 – R. 168, l. 19.

DISCUSSION

The evidence did not support the trial court's finding that a reasonable suspicion existed to detain Appellant for a drug sniff because he exhibited no concealing behavior and because the officer's only specific and arousing observations were that Appellant drove another person's vehicle with two air fresheners away from an area of suspected drug activity. "The purpose of the Fourth Amendment is . . . 'to prevent arbitrary and oppressive interference by enforcement officials with the privacy and personal security of individuals.'" *United States v. Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. 544, 553–54 (1980) (quoting *United States v. Martinez-Fuerte*, 428 U.S. 543, 554 (1976)). The Fourth Amendment guarantees "[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures." U.S. Const. amend. IV. "[T]he underlying command of the Fourth Amendment is always that searches and seizures be reasonable." *Wilson v. Arkansas*, 514 U.S. 927, 931 (1995). The Fourth Amendment is applicable to the States through the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. *Mapp v. Ohio*, 367 U.S. 643 (1961).

Traffic stops are reviewed under the standard set forth in *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1 (1968), because a traffic stop is more analogous to an investigative detention than a custodial arrest. See *United States v. Rusher*, 966 F.2d 868, 875 (4th Cir. 1992). Consequently, *Terry* outlines a two-prong test for analyzing the constitutionality of a

traffic stop: (1) whether the police officer's action was justified at the inception of the traffic stop; and (2) whether the police officer's subsequent actions were reasonably related in scope and duration to the circumstances that justified the stop. *Rusher*, 966 F.2d at 875.

“As a general matter, the decision to stop an automobile is reasonable where the police have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred.” *State v. Butler*, 343 S.C. 198, 201, 539 S.E.2d 414, 416 (Ct. App. 2000) (citations omitted). “An investigative detention must be temporary and last no longer than is necessary to effectuate the purpose of the stop and the scope of the detention must be carefully tailored to its underlying justification.” *State v. Pichardo*, 367 S.C. 84, 99, 623 S.E.2d 840, 847-48 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing *Florida v. Royer*, 460 U.S. 491 (1983)).

Once the initial purpose of a stop has been fulfilled, further detention is beyond the scope of the stop and therefore illegal unless the officer has reasonable suspicion that a serious crime is afoot. *State v. Tindall*, 388 S.C. 518, 521, 698 S.E.2d 203, 205 (citing *U.S. v. Sullivan*, 138 F.3d 131 (4th Cir. 1998)). “‘Reasonable suspicion’ requires a ‘particularized and objective basis that would lead one to suspect another of criminal activity.’” *State v. Khingratsaiphon*, 352 S.C. 62, 69, 572 S.E.2d 456, 459 (2002) (quoting *United States v. Cortez*, 449 U.S. 411, 418 (1981)). In determining whether reasonable suspicion exists, the court must consider the totality of the circumstances. *State v. Rogers*, 368 S.C. 529, 534, 629 S.E.2d 679, 682 (Ct. App. 2006).

Nervousness alone is not a reasonable basis for suspicion of criminal activity. *State v. Provet*, 391 S.C. 494, 502, 706 S.E.2d 513, 517 (Ct. App. 2011) (discussing *State v. Rivera*, 384 S.C. 356, 682 S.E.2d 307 (Ct. App. 2009); see also *Delaware v. Prouse*,

440 U.S. 648, 657 (1979) (recognizing that “law enforcement officers signaling a moving automobile to pull over [entails] a possibly unsettling show of authority” that “may create substantial anxiety”). Additionally, “[j]ust as an officer's knowledge of a suspect's past arrests or convictions is inadequate to furnish reasonable suspicion; so too is knowledge that a suspect is merely under investigation, which is an even more tentative, potentially innocuous step towards determining criminal activity.” *U.S. v. Foster*, 634 F.3d 243, 247 (4th Cir. 2011).

In *State v. Provet*, 391 S.C. at 504-505, 706 S.E.2d at 518-519, this Court held that reasonable suspicion of a serious crime existed when the driver's behavior was deceptive and nervous and when the officer observed several specific indicators that the driver could have been illegally transporting drugs over a long haul in the vehicle. The driver said that he was visiting girlfriend while driving another girlfriend's vehicle; that he had just left a Holiday Inn even though the officer observed the traffic violation prior to the hotel's exit on the interstate; that he was staying in Greenville for two days but had no luggage; and the driver also had extremely shaky hands and accelerated breathing. *Id.* The indicators of criminal activity included the third-party registration of the vehicle; “numerous” fast food bags in the vehicle; and the presence of “several” air fresheners in the vehicle that “produced a strong odor.” *Id.*

In contrast, in *State v. Tindall*, 388 S.C. 518, 523, 698 S.E. 2d 203, 206 (2010), the South Carolina Supreme Court held that reasonable suspicion of a serious crime did not exist when the driver did not exhibit concealing behavior although he was slightly nervous and the officer observed a few specific signs of potential illicit activity. The driver was going to Durham, a known drug hub; the vehicle was rented the previous day to another

person and was due in Atlanta on the day of the stop; the driver did a felony stretch upon exiting the vehicle; and the driver seemed nervous. *Id.* The driver was also initially stopped for speeding, following too closely, and failing to maintain a lane, but the Court did not discuss the violations in its analysis of reasonable suspicion. *Id.* at 522, 698 S.E.2d at 205. *See also State v. Rivera*, 384 S.C. at 363, 682 S.E.2d at 311 (affirming no reasonable suspicion because “Respondents’ nervousness, standing alone, did not create a suspicion of criminal behavior [and] the ‘stories’ the respondents told [w]ere not so inconsistent as to indicate criminal activity . . .”).

In this case, the record does not support the trial court’s finding of reasonable suspicion first and foremost because the court’s inferences were not supported by the evidence. In its ruling, the court stated there was testimony that Appellant appeared to reach and hide something when he swerved. However, no grounds existed for the court to infer that Appellant was aware a patrol car was behind him or that he had a reason in general to reach and hide something. Further, the Court found that Appellant was “overly, overly nervous.” However, Officer Daniel was the investigating officer and his testimony was merely that Appellant “broke eye contact” when the subject of drugs arose. Investigator Swad did testify that Appellant was very nervous, but the allegation was flimsy: he was observing from inside a vehicle parked behind Deputy Daniel’s vehicle, and his description of the specifics of the nervousness was merely that Appellant was “just non – I guess – confrontational with the – when he asked a question, he looked away and stuff like that.” Finally, the trial court found reasonable suspicion was support by the ongoing investigation of Appellant, which disclosed that he was previously involved in a deal using a vehicle with a matching description. However, no testimony in the record supports the

conclusion that Officer Daniel was aware of the investigation or prior drug deal in a matching vehicle. The testimony shows Investigators Swad and Luther knew of these facts, but they never relayed that information to Officer Daniel. Officer Daniel specifically stated he detained Appellant and called in the canine based on Appellant's swerve, the two air fresheners, his knowledge of the area's drug activity, and Appellant's reactions to questioning.¹

Second, the record does not support the existence of a reasonable suspicion because like in *Tindall* and unlike in *Provet*, Appellant exhibited no concealing behavior or excessive nervousness. The record contains no evidence that in the course of the traffic stop, Officer Daniel was cognizant of any deceptive statements or attempts at concealment made by Appellant. At most, Officer Daniel could only speculate that when Appellant swerved, he was reaching to possibly hide something. He also said Appellant broke eye contact when the topic of drugs came up. Putting aside the fact that most people acquire and break eye contact repeatedly throughout most conversations, a momentary break in eye contact is far less suggestive to a reasonable observer of feelings of fear, guilt, or anxiety than the extreme shaking of hands coupled with the accelerated breathing discussed in *Provet*.

Thus, only four observations by Officer Daniel were relevant to arouse suspicion: two air fresheners were in the car; the car was registered to another person; the car came from what Officer Daniel considered a high crime area; and the car swerved while appellant appeared to reach for something. Looking closer, having two air fresheners in a vehicle is

¹ Importantly, even if Officer Daniel had been aware of the investigation, under *Foster* the knowledge would have been inadequate to furnish reasonable suspicion and would have properly been accorded very little weight alongside any other factors.

not uncommon and generally innocuous. Officer Daniel did not testify they emitted a strong odor or that he recalled their scent at all; therefore, suspecting they were intended to mask the smell of drugs from a nosy officer or a canine was not reasonable. And suspecting someone possesses drugs because he steered momentarily outside of a lane while appearing to reach for something is beyond tenuous. Indeed, under *Tindall*, the traffic violation probably should not have been considered at all. Plainly, the facts of *Tindall*—the third-party registration of the vehicle, the driver’s “numerous” fast food bags and air fresheners, and the renting and driving of a car from one place to a faraway drug hub and back the same day—present a much more compelling case for reasonable suspicion; nonetheless, the indicators were insufficient to surmount the protections of the Fourth Amendment.

In applying standards for the protection of Constitutional rights, it is important to view the facts of a case through the lens of a hypothetically innocent person in the same circumstances. *See, e.g., United States v. Foreman*, 369 F.3d. 776, 781 (4th Cir. 2004) (holding “[t]he articulated factors together must serve to eliminate a substantial portion of innocent travelers before the requirement of reasonable suspicion will be satisfied”). Here, the trial court held that the Fourth Amendment permits a law enforcement officer to detain and investigate an innocent person whenever he drives another person’s vehicle having two air fresheners away from an area of suspected drug activity if the driver momentarily crosses the yellow line.

The Fourth Amendment authorizes a law enforcement officer to make a further investigation upon entertaining how specific, identifiable facts and circumstances reasonably suggest that the public welfare is in peril. It is not a license for a law