**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2012-212700

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT

v.

KENNETH ODELL JACKSON, .....APPELLANT.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**RECEIVED**  
DEC 3 9 2013  
SC COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2012-212700

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

investigative actions undertaken by the police and was arguably reasonable in duration notwithstanding the existence of reasonable suspicion to expand the scope of the stop. See Johnson, 555 U.S. at 333 (“An officer's inquiries into matters unrelated to the justification for the traffic stop, this Court has made plain, do not convert the encounter into something other than a lawful seizure, so long as those inquiries do not measurably extend the duration of the stop.” (emphasis added)); United States v. Sharpe, 470 U.S. 675, 683 (1985) (finding a twenty-minute detention during an investigatory traffic stop was objectively reasonable); Provet, 405 S.C. at 109, 747 S.E.2d at 457-58 (finding the initial traffic stop concluded in a reasonable amount of time even if the officer’s questioning was unrelated to the purpose of the traffic stop where the entire stop lasted approximately ten minutes); Branch, 537 F.3d at 338 (“We begin with the basic fact that much of Branch’s 30-minute detention was justified by the ‘ordinary inquiries incident’ to a routine traffic stop.” (citations omitted)); United States v. Jeffus, 22 F.3d 554, 557 (4th Cir. 1994) (finding a fifteen-minute traffic stop to be reasonable); United States v. Jones, 44 F.3d 860, 872 (10th Cir. 1995) (approving of a thirty-minute traffic stop); United States v. Hardy, 855 F.2d 753, 761 (11th Cir. 1988) (finding a fifty-minute investigatory stop to be reasonable). The State submits a fourteen-minute detention during a valid traffic stop was objectively reasonable on its face.

Furthermore, at the time the officers decided to conduct their search of the vehicle based on the drug dog’s alert, the purpose of the traffic stop had not yet been completed because Daniel had not yet finished running routine computer checks and writing the citation. Compare Tindall, 388 S.C. at 522, 698 S.E.2d at 205 (finding a constitutional violation because: “At this point, the purpose of the traffic stop was accomplished except

for the issuance of the warning ticket. However, rather than issue the ticket, the officer continued to question Tindall for an additional six to seven minutes[.]”) and State v. Williams, 351 S.C. 591, 604-05, 571 S.E.2d 703, 710-11 (Ct. App. 2002)-(finding a constitutional violation where the officer issued and explained the ticket and returned the defendant’s license and registration, and then asked the defendant and a passenger a series of questions regarding their itinerary and relationship) with Provet, 405 S.C. at 106, 747 S.E.2d at 456 (finding no constitutional violation where the canine unit arrived before the officer received the dispatcher’s return call regarding the status of Provet’s license and registration and issued him a traffic warning citation) and State v. Jones, 364 S.C. 51, 610 S.E.2d 846 (Ct. App. 2005) (finding no constitutional violation when the officer asked questions while in the process of checking driver’s license and writing ticket, and did not deviate from his normal procedures). As in Provet and Jones, the State submits Daniel’s routine questioning during the course of the traffic stop did not otherwise convert the stop into an unlawful detention. He did not measurably prolong the traffic stop or exceed its scope by asking brief, general investigative questions during the course of the traffic stop, such as those related to ownership of the car and whether drugs were in the car. It was reasonable for him to seek verification of Appellant’s answers via computer checks, particularly in connection with ownership of the car and the reason given for a provisional driver’s license. Such questions and actions are appropriate to any traffic investigation, and did not unreasonably prolong the traffic stop’s duration. Berkemer v. McCarty, 468 U.S. 420, 439 (1984); Jeffus, 22 F.3d at 556-57 (4th Cir. 1994); United States v. Purcell, 236 F.3d 1274, 1279-80 (11th Cir. 2001); see United States v. Allegree, 175 F.3d 648, 650 (8th Cir. 1999) (a reasonable investigation

may include asking for the driver's license and registration, asking the driver to sit in the patrol car, and asking about the driver's destination and purpose); see also Tindall, 698 S.E.2d at 205 (in carrying out a routine traffic stop, law enforcement officer may request driver's license and vehicle registration and run a computer check) and Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 98, 623 S.E.2d at 847. A mere fourteen minutes elapsed between the time Daniel initiated the traffic stop and the time the drug dog arrived to perform the sniff, which was prior to Daniel completing his routine functions and presenting the citation to Appellant. (Tr1.p.59, line 3-p.60, line 18; p.98, lines 3-9). On its face, this short time period was reasonable, and Appellant's assertion the police prolonged the traffic stop just to wait on the canine unit's arrival is contradicted by Daniel's testimony. (R.p.51, line 12-p.54, line 2). Appellant argues in his brief that because Daniel subsequently conceded he intended to detain Appellant for further investigation until the canine unit arrived at the scene to perform a sniff, Daniel in fact did so. However, subjective intentions play no role in the inquiry. Whren, 517 U.S. at 813. Fourteen minutes was a reasonable length of time for the initial traffic stop and Daniel's off-topic questions did not measurably extend the duration of the stop.

#### Reasonable Suspicion

Even if a traffic stop is initially lawful, the detention "can become unlawful if it is prolonged beyond the time reasonably required to complete [its] mission." Illinois v. Caballes, 543 U.S. 405, 407 (2005); see Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 98, 623 S.E.2d at 848 ("Once the purpose of that stop has been fulfilled, the continued detention of the car and the occupants amounts to a second detention."). However, a further detention extending the scope of a traffic stop beyond its original purpose is not automatically

unconstitutional. Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 99, 623 S.E.2d at 848. Instead, continued questioning beyond the duration of an initial traffic stop is lawful and permissible where: (1) the officer has a reasonable articulable suspicion of other illegal activity; or (2) the traffic stop becomes a consensual encounter. Id. Thus, the officer's observations while conducting the traffic stop may create reasonable suspicion to justify further search or seizure. Provet, 405 S.C. at 109, 747 S.E.2d at 457.

Reasonable suspicion consists of “‘a particularized and objective basis’ that would lead one to suspect another of criminal activity.” State v. Lesley, 326 S.C. 641, 644, 486 S.E.2d 276, 277 (Ct. App. 1997) (quoting United States v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411, 417 (1981)); see United States v. Arvizu, 534 U.S. 266, 273 (2002) (“[T]he Fourth Amendment is satisfied if the officer’s action is supported by reasonable suspicion to believe that criminal activity ‘may be afoot’.”). Reasonable suspicion “is not readily, or even usefully, reduced to a neat set of legal rules, but, rather, entails common sense, nontechnical conceptions that deal with factual and practical considerations of everyday life on which reasonable and prudent persons, not legal technicians, act.” United States v. Foreman, 369 F.3d 776, 781 (4th Cir. 2004). “In this highly fact-specific inquiry, reasonable suspicion ‘is a fluid concept which takes its substantive content from the particular context in which the standard is being assessed.’” State v. Wallace, 392 S.C. 47, 51-52, 707 S.E.2d 451, 453 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting Foreman, 369 F.3d at 781). The reasonable suspicion standard is a less demanding standard than probable cause and requires a showing considerably less than preponderance of the evidence. Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 123 (2000); see State v. Willard, 374 S.C. 129, 134, 647 S.E.2d 252, 255 (Ct. App. 2007) (“Reasonable suspicion is more than a general hunch but less

than what is required for probable cause.”); State v. Rogers, 368 S.C. 529, 534, 629 S.E.2d 679, 682 (Ct. App. 2006) (“Reasonable suspicion is something more than an inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch.”). In order for an officer to have reasonable suspicion regarding the presence of illegal drugs, the officer is required to have a particularized and objective basis arising from the totality of the circumstances that would lead an individual to suspect drugs are located in a lawfully stopped vehicle. State v. Banda, 371 S.C. 245, 254 n.4, 639 S.E.2d 36, 41 n.4 (2006).

Thus, in determining the existence of reasonable suspicion, the totality of the circumstances must be considered. Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 104, 623 S.E.2d at 85. In reviewing the totality of the circumstances, the individual factors of the traffic stop must not be considered piecemeal or in isolation. See Branch, 537 F.3d at 337 (“Courts must look at the ‘cumulative information available’ to the officer . . . and not find a stop unjustified based merely on a ‘piecemeal refutation of each individual’ fact and inference[.]” (citations omitted)). Instead, all of the circumstances of the stop, including the officer’s own experience and specialized training, must be considered as a whole to determine whether the officer’s actions were reasonable in light of all of the information available to him at the time. See United States v. Mason, 628 F.3d 123, 129 (4th Cir. 2010) (“[J]ust as one corner of a picture might not reveal the picture’s subject or nature, each component that contributes to reasonable suspicion might not alone give rise to reasonable suspicion.”). “In applying the concept of reasonable suspicion to the various facts of a case, ‘[i]t is the entire mosaic that counts, not single tiles.’” Wallace, 392 S.C. at 52, 707 S.E.2d at 453 (quoting United States v. Whitehead, 849 F.2d 849, 858 (4th Cir. 1988)). Thus, the presence of several factors seemingly consistent with innocent travel

can establish reasonable suspicion when viewed together in totality. United States v. Sokolow, 490 U.S. 1, 9 (1989).

The doctrine of “collective knowledge” holds that probable cause may be based on collective knowledge of all law enforcement officers involved in an investigation and need not be based solely on information within the knowledge of the officer on the scene if there is some degree of communication. See State v. Dunbar, 345 S.C. 479, 493, 581 S.E.2d 840, 848 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing United States v. Morales, 238 F.3d 952 (8th Cir. 2001)), vacated in part by 356 S.C. 479, 581 S.E.2d 840 (2003) (finding the Court of Appeals was incorrect to base its decision on an argument not raised to the trial court below): Thus, probable cause may rest on the collective knowledge of law enforcement officers when reliable communication exists between them, and where the actual officer seeking a warrant lacks the specific information himself to form the basis for probable cause but sufficient information to justify the search was known by other law enforcement officers initiating or involved with the investigation. United States v. Hensley, 469 U.S. 221, 230-33 (1985). This rule exists because, in light of the complexity of modern police work, the seeking officer cannot always be aware of every aspect of an investigation; sometimes his or her authority to seek a search warrant is based on facts known only to his or her superiors or associates. The collective knowledge doctrine was developed in recognition of the fact that with larger or taxed police departments and mobile defendants an officer seeking a warrant might not be aware of all the underlying facts that provided probable cause but may nonetheless act reasonably in relying on information received by other officers in his or her department. See Whitely v. Warden, 401 U.S. 560, 568 (1971) (“Certainly police officers called upon

to aid other officers in executing arrest warrants are entitled to assume that the officers requesting aid offered the magistrate the information requisite to support an independent judicial assessment of probable cause.”).

As noted above, Appellant no longer challenges whether the initial traffic stop was justified. Instead, he contends the circuit court erred in finding the police had reasonable suspicion of criminal activity to justify extending his detention beyond the time required to complete the purpose of the traffic stop. He asserts the Supreme Court’s recent opinions in Tindall and Provet mandate a finding the police did not have sufficient reasonable suspicion to conduct further investigation after the stop. (Brief of Appellant, p.9-p.12). The State disagrees.

Even if the initial stop was extended into a second detention, the trial court properly found it was supported by reasonable articulable suspicion. Before and during the course of the traffic stop, the police officers developed reasonable suspicion based on objective factors that would lead an individual to suspect drugs were located in the vehicle. These factors included: (1) prior knowledge that the police made a controlled buy from Appellant less than three months before the traffic stop, from a car that was the identical color, make, and model as the car Appellant was driving at the time of the stop (R.p.64, lines 4-20; p.69, lines 2-10); (2) prior knowledge that the gas station store where the car was seen immediately before the traffic stop is located in a known drug dealing area (R.p.48, lines 10-19; p.50, lines 8-24; p.59, line 1-p.60, line 8; p.63, lines 3-7); (3) seeing the car parked beside that gas station, backed in, in the shadows, in an area a typical store customer would not park if simply going into the store to make a purchase (R.p.60, line 18-p.61, line 19; p.63, lines 3-7); (4) seeing the car swerve and fail to

maintain its lane while the driver leaned over, as if he were trying to hide something (R.p.34, lines 21-23; p.50, lines 8-24; p.57, line 21-p.58, line 7);<sup>9</sup> (5) discovering Appellant was driving with a provisional license, which typically restricts driving to activities during regular business hours (R.p.38, line 19-p.39, line 21; p. 57, lines 18-20); (6) discovering the car was registered to a third party (R.p.40, line 21-p.41, line 2); (7) observing Appellant's very nervous behavior during the stop, including the fact that he "broke eye contact" and "looked away" when asked whether there were drugs in the car (R.p.39, line 22-p.40, line 4; p.50, lines 23-23; p.69, line 21-p.64, line 3); and (8) seeing two air fresheners in the car (R.p.40, lines 11-20; p.50, lines 8-24).

Daniel, the officer who initiated the traffic stop, described six of the eight factors above, all of which combined to make him suspect Appellant was engaged in criminal activity. Swad, a thirty-year veteran with the SCSO with fifteen years' experience in narcotics investigations who arrived at the scene immediately after the car was pulled over, then described additional critical facts which heightened police suspicion. These consisted of Appellant's recent prior drug deal using the same car, and the suspicious location of the car in the gas station parking lot before the stop. (R.p.60, line 18-p.61, line 19; p.63, lines 3-7; p.64, lines 4-20; p.69, lines 2-10). Swad also corroborated Daniel's description of Appellant's nervous behavior. (R.p.63, line 21-p.64, line 3). Appellant argues the additional facts known to Swad should not have been considered by the trial court because there is no evidence in the record to show those facts were relayed to Daniel prior to the arrival of the drug dog. (Brief of Appellant, p.10). However, Appellant has failed to articulate why the trial court would be restricted in this fashion,

---

<sup>9</sup> Appellant argues there were no grounds existing for the court to infer he was aware a police car was behind him when he swerved (Brief of Appellant, p.9); however, Daniel was driving a marked patrol car (R.p.63, lines 8-20), which would have been obvious to Appellant or any other driver.

particularly where Daniel was not the only officer on the scene during the stop. Swad and Luther arrived immediately after the car was pulled over and assisted Daniel with maintaining the scene while Daniel completed the ordinary inquiries incident to a routine traffic stop. Their knowledge was as relevant as Daniel's knowledge in considering the totality of the circumstances known to the police.

In any event, under the doctrine of "collective knowledge," the reasonable suspicion for further detention may be based on collective knowledge of all law enforcement officers involved in an investigation and need not be based solely on information within the knowledge of the first officer on the scene if there is some degree of communication. Dunbar, supra. Here, there was more than merely a degree of communication. Swad and Luther were on the scene with Daniel as reasonable suspicion developed. They communicated with Pharis during the stop to check on the availability of the drug dog and were with Daniel for the remainder of the stop. (R.p.64, lines 4-20; p.69, lines 2-10; p.73, line 7-p.74, line 3). Therefore, all facts known and testified to by both Swad and Daniel must be considered.

As the trial court found, the combined impact of all factors, considered in light of the officers' knowledge and experience, provided ample basis for their suspicion of illegal activity and justified further detention for investigation. Indeed, the factors taken as a whole provided the officers with reasonable suspicion Appellant was engaged in criminal activity. Contrary to Appellant's assertion, a comparison with recent case law in South Carolina supports the trial court's decision to deny his motion to suppress.

In Tindall, the Supreme Court found that the following factors were not sufficient to constitute a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity: (1) Tindall was driving to

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